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A heari ng panel suspended the respondent’'s |license to practice
law for two years following its findings that he m sappropriated
t he approxi mate sumof $70, 000 whil e acting as a bankruptcy trustee
and was convicted of crimnal contenpt for the neglect of his
duties as a trustee. The Attorney Discipline Board has consi dered
the petitions for reviewfiled by the respondent and the Gievance
Adm ni strator. The hearing panel's decision is nodified wth
regard to the effective date of the two-year suspension and is
affirmed in all other respects.

The respondent has not denied the factual allegations set
forthinthe Gievance Adm nistrator's conplaint. The record bel ow
di scloses that M. House was appointed by the United States
Bankruptcy Court to act as a trustee in accordance with 11 USC Sec.
701. At that tinme, the respondent had devel oped a successful
practice which enpl oyed four other attorneys. However, the history
given to his psychiatrist contains the respondent's claimthat he
had for several vyears becone increasingly involved with a
"spiritual advisor" who urged him to nmake |arge donations to
various religious and charitable causes and to becone involved in
| ocal politics. From 1984 until April 1985, he clainms to have
devoted his efforts solely to politics, leaving the affairs of his
law firmin the hands of others. 1n 1985, respondent |left Detroit
and spent the next eight nonths in Swtzerl and.

In Septenber 1985, the U S. Bankruptcy Court renoved the

respondent as trustee in thirty-two bankruptcy estates. The
respondent was confronted by the successor trustee who charged t hat
funds were missing from one of the estates. The respondent

acknow edged using bankruptcy estate funds to run his law firm
while he was out of the country and admtted that a total of
$77, 000 had been used. By January 1986, all funds had been repaid,
with interest.

The respondent's mshandling of those bankruptcy estates
resulted in subsequent contenpt proceedings in the United States
District Court. The formal conplaint filed by the Giievance
Adm ni strator i s based upon the respondent’'s conviction of crim nal
contenpt for violations of 18 USC 401(2) on Cctober 31, 1986.

The respondent's grounds for appeal range across a broad
spectrum of procedural and substantive issues. Each has been



consi dered by the Board, beginning with the all eged defects in the
heari ng panel's report.

Al t hough the order of suspension filed by the panel was si gned
by the panel's chai rnman, the acconpanying report was signed by the
panel's secretary, contrary to the requirenent of MCR 9.115(J)(5)
t hat bot h docunents be signed by the chairman. W cannot construe
this as a fatal defect. This technical deficiency clearly falls
within the spirit of MCR 9.102(A) which directs that these rules
are to be liberally construed and MCR 9. 107(A) whi ch decl ares t hat
a proceeding "my not be held invalid because of a non-prejudicial
irregularity or an error not resulting in a mscarriage of

justice.” Simlarly, respondent's objection to the absence of an
item zation of the Gievance Adm nistrator's costs in the report
has not been shown to be prejudicial. It is noted that the

item zation was pronptly provided to respondent's counsel on
request .

Respondent has further objected to the makeup of the hearing
panel which consisted of three | awers whose principle offices are
| ocated in Cakland County. Respondent argues that his residence
and law office are both |located in Wayne County and that the case
shoul d have been assigned to a panel conprised of Wayne County
| awyers. The respondent has acknow edged that he i s not raising an
i ssue of venue. MCR 9.115(G states that, unless the chairperson
ot herwi se directs, the hearing nust be held in the county in which
the respondent has or last had his or her office or residence.
Al t hough the respondent specifically waived any objection to
hol ding the hearings outside of Wyne County, the proceedings
before the panel were, in fact, conducted at the Board's hearing
roomin Detroit. The Court Rules are silent as to the nmakeup of a
heari ng panel and MCR 9.110(D)(3) states sinply that the Board has
the duty to assign a conplaint to a hearing panel. There has been
no showi ng, indeed no allegation, in the record below that the
three | awers assigned to this hearing panel were prejudiced or
biased nor is it claimed that the i ssues presented in this case are
uniquely within the experience of |lawers who practice in a
particul ar county.

A nore conplex issue is presented by the respondent's claim
that the disciplinary proceedi ngs are unconstitutional in that an
attorney's license may be suspended or revoked wi thout a judicial
hearing. This, he contends, anpbunts to a violation of his right to
due process of |aw guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendnent of the
U.S. Constitution. The Attorney Discipline Board was created by
the M chigan Supreme Court as that Court's "adjudicative armto
di scharge its exclusive constitutional responsibility to supervise

and discipline Mchigan attorneys.” MR 9.110(A) [formerly GCR
1963, 959]. W reject the respondent's constitutional argunent.
Wiile it is true that our Court grants applications for |eave to
appeal in a relatively small nunber of cases, it does not

necessarily follow that a party whose application has been deni ed
by the court has been denied an opportunity to adjudicate
constitutional clainms. In a mgjority of cases which are appeal ed



to the Board or the Suprene Court, the sole issue on appeal is a
claim that the discipline inposed is too harsh or too |enient.
These appeals, along with those citing evidentiary, procedural or
constitutional infirmties in the hearing panel proceedings, are
consi dered by the Board i n accordance with the rul es pronul gat ed by
the Suprene Court. Both the panel and Board proceedings are
subject to the superintending control of the Suprenme Court [MCR
9.107(A)]. Application for leave to appeal to the Suprene Court
may be filed by an aggrieved party [ MCR 9.122(A)]. It has not been
established is unconstitutionally abrogated its responsibility to
over see and supervi se the systemof professional disciplinecreated
by sub-chapter 9.100 of the M chigan Court Rules.

It is the respondent’'s further argunment that the hearing panel
i mproperly rejected his defense that he was suffering froma nent al
di sorder that the tine the msconduct occurred. Respondent
enphasi zes the expert testinony offered on his behalf by his
psychiatrist, Dr. Janora, that respondent suffered from a bipol ar

di sorder and was acting delusionally. Specifically, we are
referred to Dr. Janora's testinony that respondent's conduct was
sonmething "that had been dictated to him by God." He has

consi stently enphasi zed that no claimis nmade that the respondent
coul d not distinguish between right and wong. Rather, respondent
draws on the provisions of MCL 768.21(A) and MCL 330. 1400(A) for
his argunment that a person is no cul pable if, because of a nental
illness, he "lacks substantial capacity either to appreciate the
wrongful ness of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the
requi renents of |aw "

W affirm the hearing panel's decision that m sconduct was
established by the respondent's admi ssion and its decision to
reject the medical testinony submtted i n defense of those charges.
Respondent has never denied that he enbezzled funds from a
bankruptcy estate. It is his argunment, reduced to its sinplest
ternms, that he was under a conpul sion caused by a nental disorder.
In his argunents to the panel, respondent's counsel specifically
drew the analogy between the instant disciplinary case and a
crimnal case. It is his position that a person suffering froma
ment al di sorder prohibiting himfromconform ng his conduct to the
requirenments of the law should be held neither crimnally nor
prof essionally responsible for the resulting m sconduct.

W believe that the panel was correct in rejecting that
anal ogy. Qur system of professional discipline is founded on the
notice that discipline for m sconduct is inposed for the protection
of the public, the courts and the | egal profession. (MCR 9.105) It
is especially inmportant that such protection be afforded in cases

involving the msuse of client funds. Mor eover, the Board has
specifically found that the elenent of intent is not required to
establish msappropriation of funds. In Matter of Steven J.

Lupi |l of f, DP 34/85, Board Opi nion March 24, 1988, the Board adopted
this definition of m sappropriation enployed by the District of
Col unmbi a Court of Appeals in the case of Inre E. David Harrison,
461 A2d 1034 (1983):




"M sappropriation of clients' i's any
unaut hori zed use of client's funds entrusted
to an attorney including not only stealing,
but al so unauthorized tenporary use for the
| awyer's own purpose, whether or not he
derives any personal gain or benefit
therefrom"”

The Court in Harrison rejected the notion that "inproper
intent” is an el enment to be considered in determ ni ng whet her there
has been a m sappropriation:

"This is consistent with the | anguage of DR 9-
102 which, unlike other disciplinary rules,
does not require scienter; rather, it 1is
essentially a per se offense. Consequently,
when the running bal ance of Harrison's office
account fell below the anount held in trust
for Hart, m sappropriation had occurred.”™ |In
re Wlson, 81 NJ 451; 409 A2d 1153 (1979).

This definitionis entirely consistent with earlier rulings by
the Board. W stated, for exanple, in Matter of Barry R Q aser,
DP 106/ 84, Septenber 30, 1985 (Brd. Opn. p. 379) that "the repeated
depletions of the professional account which was used to hold
client funds <constitutes, at the very least, prima facie
m sconduct . "

The Board has further ruled, however, that the issue of
intent, while not constituting a defense to a m sappropriation
charge, may be consi dered by a panel in determ ning the appropriate
| evel of discipline. 1t is clear fromthe hearing panel's report
in this case that the transcripts of Dr. Janobra's testinony were
adm tted and consi dered by the panel during the discipline phase of
t he proceedi ngs. The panel specifically cited the mtigating
effect of the "psychiatric circunstances” described by Dr. Janora.
Additionally, the panel stated that it had given considerable
wei ght to the fact that the m sappropriated funds had been restored
with interest. The panel concluded that a two-year suspension was
appropri at e.

The Board has considered the Gri evance Administrator's Cross-
Petition for Review seeking an increase in that discipline. W
conclude that the discipline inposed by the panel was appropriate
and shoul d be affirned. However, the panel's report may i nply that
restitution was considered to have a greater mtigating effect than
t he respondent' s psychol ogi cal history. Although we reach the sane
final result, we would reverse the relative weight of those
mtigating factors.

Restitution in this case was nade after a successor trustee
had been appointed and had filed suit to recover the noney. W
agree with the Anmerican Bar Association Joint Comrittee on
Pr of essi onal Sanctions that forced or conpelled restitution should



generally be given little or no weight as a mtigating factor.
Standards for Inposing Lawer Sanctions, Sec. 9.0 (Anmerican Bar
Associ ation 1986). W believe, on the other hand, that the
somewhat uni que psychol ogi cal circunstances descri bed by Dr. Janora
di stinguish this case fromthose cases invol ving m sappropriation
of funds resulting in discipline ranging from three-year
suspensi ons to disbarnent. The respondent will be required to
establish his eligibility for reinstatenment to the satisfaction of
a hearing panel in accordance with the procedures described in MCR
9.123(B) and MCR 9. 124. W are satisfied that the two-year
suspension inposed in this case affords adequate protection to the
public, the courts and the | egal profession.

Hon. Martin M Doctoroff, Remona A. G een, Hanley M Qurw n, Linda
S. Hotchkiss, MD., and Theodore P. Zegouras

Opinion of Robert S. Harrison and Patrick J. Keating

This case has presented a nunber of inportant procedural and
substantive issues. W join with the nmajority in the rulings on
the various grounds for appeal raised by the respondent. On the
issue of the discipline, however, we would go further in
recogni zi ng the special circunstances presented by the psychiatric
testinmony received in mtigation. Gven the nature of the bipolar
di sorder described in the unrebutted testinony of Dr. Janora, it is
clear that reinstatenent proceedings in accordance with MR
9.123(B) would be appropriate. However, an appropriate bal ance
bet ween t he primary purposes of these proceedi ngs and the interests
of the respondent would be adequately achieved by nodifying
discipline to include a sonewhat shorter suspension coupled wth
conditions requiring ongoing treatnment under Dr. Janora's
supervi si on





